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Plaintiffs (Anthony Ventura and other individuals) appeal the dismissal of
their First Amended Consolidated Class Action Complaint (“FAC”). We have
jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291. Reviewing a dismissal for failure to
state a claim de novo, Zixiang Li v. Kerry, 710 F.3d 995, 998 (9th Cir. 2013)
(citation omitted), we affirm in part, reverse in part, and remand.

First Claim (Breach of Express Warranty)

The district court properly dismissed the first claim for breach of an express
warranty. “An express warranty is a contractual term relating to the title, character,
quality, identity, or condition of the sold goods.” Blennis v. Hewlett-Packard Co.,
No. C 07-00333 JF, 2008 WL 818526, at *2 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 25, 2008) (citing
Fogo v. Cutter Labs., Inc., 137 Cal. Rptr. 417 (Ct. App. 1977)). “A manufacturer’s
liability for breach of an express warranty derives from, and 1s measured by, the
terms of that warranty.” Cipollone v. Liggett Group, Inc., 505 U.S. 504, 525
(1992). A plaintiff must allege “the exact terms of the warranty.” Williams v.
Beechnut Nutrition Corp., 229 Cal. Rptr. 605, 608 (Ct. App. 1986).

Plaintiffs allege that Defendants Sony Computer Entertainment America Inc.
and Sony Computer Entertainment America LLC (“Sony”) gave Plaintiffs an

express warranty—through various statements made mostly in promotional
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materials—that the other operating software (“Other OS”) and PlayStation
Network (“PSN”) features both would be available for the advertised ten-year
lifespan of the PlayStation 3 (“PS3”). However, these disparate statements, even
when read together, do not include all the “exact terms” that would create an
express warranty that such dual functionality would be available for the ten-year
lifespan of the PS3. Moreover, Sony’s System Software License Agreement
(“SSLA”) and Terms of Service (“TOS”) expressly informed consumers that
updates and services ‘“may cause some loss of functionality.”

Alternatively, even if Plaintiffs sufficiently have alleged that Sony gave
them an express warranty that the PS3 would operate as a computer through its
ability to run the Other OS, Plaintiffs do not adequately plead a breach of that
warranty. While Plaintiffs claim that they have pleaded a warranty that the Other
OS function would last for ten years, Sony’s statements only promise a ten-year
lifespan for the PS3 itself.

In addition, Sony’s written Limited Hardware Warranty curtailed
“WARRANTIES REQUIRED AS A MATTER OF LAW” to one year from the
original date of purchase. This limitation was valid, because it is “reasonable” to
construe a one-year limit together with the alleged Other OS warranty, which had

no temporal limit. See Cal. Com. Code § 2316(1). Thus, Plaintiffs’ alleged Other
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OS warranty would have expired by the time Sony released Update 3.21.
Accordingly, we affirm the dismissal of this claim.

Second and Third Claims (Breach of Implied Warranties
of Merchantability and Fitness for a Particular Purpose)

The district court properly dismissed the second and third claims for breach
of the implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose.
An implied warranty of merchantability arises when a product is not “fit for the
ordinary purposes for which such goods are used.” In re Ferrero Litig., 794 F.
Supp. 2d 1107, 1118 (S.D. Cal. 2011) (citing Hauter v. Zogarts, 534 P.2d 377 (Cal.
1975)) (internal quotation marks omitted); see Cal. Com. Code § 2314(2)(c).
“‘[T]he implied warranty of fitness for a particular purpose is a warranty implied
by law when a seller has reason to know that a buyer wishes goods for a particular
purpose and is relying on the seller’s skill and judgment to furnish those goods.’”
Cardinal Health 301, Inc. v. Tyco Elecs. Corp., 87 Cal. Rptr. 3d 5, 23 (Ct. App.
2008) (citation omitted); see Cal. Com. Code § 2315.

Plaintiffs nowhere allege that dual functionality is one of the “ordinary
purposes for which such goods are used.” Indeed, the FAC alleges that Sony

sought to distinguish the PS3 from the Wii and Xbox based on this supposed dual

functionality. Likewise, Plaintiffs fail to allege that Sony “ha[d] reason to know”
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that Plaintiffs purchased the PS3 for any “particular purpose,” whether dual
functionality or otherwise. Accordingly, we affirm the dismissal of these claims.

Fourth Claim (Violation of Magnuson-Moss
Warranty Act (“MMWA”), 15 U.S.C. § 2301 et seq.)

The district court properly dismissed Plaintiffs’ fourth claim for violation of
the MMWA. “[The] disposition of the state law warranty claims determines the
disposition of the Magnuson-Moss Act claims.” Clemens v. DaimlerChrysler
Corp., 534 F.3d 1017, 1022 (9th Cir. 2008). Further, the MMWA requires a

13

written warranty guaranteeing a product’s “specified level of performance” to state
a “period of time” over which performance is guaranteed. 15 U.S.C. § 2301(6);
see In re ConAgra Foods Inc., 908 F. Supp. 2d 1090, 1102 (C.D. Cal. 2012).
Because Plaintiffs fail to adequately allege a state warranty claim, the
MMWA claim fails. Further, the MMWA claim fails because there was no written
statement that warrants dual functionality for the ten-year lifespan of the PS3 or

any other specific time period. Accordingly, we affirm the dismissal of this claim.

Fifth and Sixth Claims (Violation of the Consumer Legal
Remedies Act (“CLRA”), Cal. Civ Code § 1770(a)(5), (7))

The district court erred in dismissing the fifth and sixth claims under Section
1770(a)(5) and (7) of the CLRA. To state a claim under these two subsections, a

plaintiff must allege: (1) a misrepresentation; (2) reliance on that
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misrepresentation; and (3) damages caused by that misrepresentation. Marolda v.
Symantec Corp., 672 F. Supp. 2d 992, 1002-03 (N.D. Cal. 2009) (citations
omitted). CLRA claims are governed by the “reasonable consumer” test, under
which a plaintiff must allege that “members of the public are likely to be
deceived.” Williams v. Gerber Prods. Co., 552 F.3d 934, 938 (9th Cir. 2008)
(citation and internal quotation marks omitted). However, “a plaintiff need not
plead fraud.” Marolda, 672 F. Supp. 2d at 1003 (citation omitted). “Section
1770(a)(5) concerns representations that the product had a characteristic that it did
not actually have,” while “Section 1770(a)(7) focuses on the product being of a
different quality or grade than represented.” Id.

Plaintiffs have alleged sufficient facts as to each element of these claims.
First, they allege that Sony’s representations at the time of sale mischaracterized
the dual functionality of the PS3—and were likely to deceive members of the
public—because Sony later restricted users to using either the Other OS feature or
accessing the PSN feature, but not both. Second, Plaintiffs allege that they
reviewed Sony’s website, relevant articles on the internet, and the PS3 box label
before making their purchases, and that they relied on Sony’s representations about
the PS3’s features. Finally, Plaintiffs allege that they suffered damages because

they paid more for the PS3 than they would have otherwise because of the
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supposed dual functionality. Plaintiffs’ damages were in the form of lost
“premium” payments. Accordingly, we reverse the dismissal of these claims.

Seventh Claim (Violation of CLRA, Cal. Civ Code § 1770(a)(9))

The district court properly dismissed the seventh claim under Section
1770(a)(9) of the CLRA. “Section 1770(a)(9) is the only subsection that requires
pleading fraud, since it specifically requires intent to defraud, which, in turn,
implies knowledge of the falsity.” Marolda, 672 F. Supp. 2d at 1003.

Here, Plaintiffs allege that at the time of sale Sony believed that it retained
the right to disable, and therefore could terminate, the PS3’s dual functionality.
Plaintiffs allege only that Sony could terminate the PS3’s dual functionality rather
than alleging that Sony would terminate the dual functionality. Plaintiffs thus fail
to allege the requisite “intent” required to state a claim under Section 1170(a)(9).

Accordingly, we affirm the dismissal of this claim.
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Eighth Claim (Violation of CLRA, Cal. Civ Code § 1770(a)(19))

Plaintiffs’ brief only summarily states in a footnote that Plaintiffs plead
sufficient facts to show procedural and substantive unconscionability. Thus,
Plaintiffs waived their unconscionability claim under Section 1770(a)(19) of the
CLRA. See City of Emeryville v. Robinson, 621 F.3d 1251, 1262 n.10 (9th Cir.
2010) (Appellant waived claim “[b]y failing to address the issue in its opening
brief except in a footnote.”). Accordingly, we affirm the dismissal of this claim.'

Ninth Claim (Violation of False Advertising Law
(“FAL”), Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500 et seq.) and
Tenth Claim for Relief (Violation of Unfair Competition Law
(“UCL”), Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq., “Fraud” Prong)

The district court erred in dismissing the ninth claim under the FAL and
tenth claim under the fraud prong of the UCL. “[T]o state a claim under either the
UCL or the false advertising law, based on false advertising or promotional
practices, it is necessary only to show that members of the public are likely to be

deceived.” Kasky v. Nike, Inc., 45 P.3d 243, 250 (Cal. 2002) (citation and internal

quotation marks omitted); id. (“This court has recognized that [a]ny violation of

" This claim fails even if considered on the merits. While Plaintiffs allege
that the SSLA and TOS contain unconscionable provisions, they fail to allege any
underlying “agreement” that promised them dual functionality for the lifespan of
the PS3. Indeed, the agreements (the SSLA and TOS) informed consumers that
updates “may cause some loss of functionality.” Thus, the premise of Plaintiffs’
unconscionability claim—i.e., a contract for dual functionality—is missing.

8
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the false advertising law . . . necessarily violates the UCL.” (citation and internal
quotation marks omitted)); see also Daugherty v. Am. Honda Motor Co., 51 Cal.
Rptr. 3d 118, 128 (Ct. App. 2006) (“Historically, the term ‘fraudulent,” as used in
the UCL, has required only a showing that members of the public are likely to be
deceived.” (citation omitted)). In addition, “[t]o have standing to bring such a
claim, a plaintiff must show that he or she has ‘suffered injury in fact and has lost

299

money or property as a result of the unfair competition.”” Stewart v. Rolling Stone
LLC, 105 Cal. Rptr. 3d 98, 111 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §
17204).

Plaintiffs adequately have alleged that members of the public were likely to
be deceived by Sony’s advertising and promotional statements about the PS3’s

dual functionality and ten-year lifespan. In addition, as discussed above, Plaintiffs

suffered injury in fact in the form of lost “premium” payments. See, e.g., Kwikset
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Corp. v. Superior Court, 246 P.3d 877, 885-87 (Cal. 2011). Accordingly, we
reverse the dismissal of these claims.’
Twelfth Claim (Violation of UCL, “Unfair” Prong)

The district court erred in dismissing the twelfth claim under the unfair
prong of the UCL. “The California Supreme Court has not established a definitive
test to determine whether a business practice is ‘unfair’ in consumer cases.” Bias
v. Wells Fargo & Co., 942 F. Supp. 2d 915, 933 (N.D. Cal. 2013) (citations
omitted). Under one of California’s three existing tests for unfairness, “‘unfair’
conduct requires that: ‘(1) the consumer injury must be substantial; (2) the injury
must not be outweighed by any countervailing benefits to consumers or
competition; and (3) it must be an injury that consumers themselves could not

299

reasonably have avoided.”” Id. (citations omitted); see also Davis v. Ford Motor

Credit Co., 101 Cal. Rptr. 3d 697, 706-10 (Ct. App. 2009) (discussing three tests).

*Likewise, the district court erred in dismissing the eleventh claim under the
unlawful prong of the UCL. “Section 17200’s ‘unlawful” prong borrows violations
of other laws . . . and makes those unlawful practices actionable under the UCL.”
Klein v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc., 137 Cal. Rptr. 3d 293, 326 (Ct. App. 2012) (citation
and internal quotation marks omitted). “[A] violation of the CLRA, which declares
numerous practices in the sale of goods or services to consumers to be unlawful
may form the predicate ‘unlawful act’ for the purposes of a UCL claim.” Id. at 327
(citations and internal quotation marks omitted). Because Plaintiffs adequately
allege claims under the CLRA, they necessarily allege a claim under the unlawful
prong of the UCL. Accordingly, we reverse the dismissal of this claim.

10
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Plaintiffs sufficiently allege that Sony caused them substantial injury by
charging a premium for the PS3’s dual functionality and then discontinuing access
to both the Other OS and PSN features. Specifically, Plaintiffs allege that (1) they
lost money because they would not have purchased or would have paid less for the
PS3 if they had known that Sony would disable or remove one or both of these
advertised features; (2) they could not have reasonably avoided this injury because
they would have lost access to the PSN if they chose not to download the update
which disabled the Other OS feature; and (3) there are no countervailing benefits to
consumers or competition that outweigh the substantial injury to consumers.
Accordingly, we reverse the dismissal of this claim.

Thirteenth Claim (Violation of Computer Fraud
and Abuse Act (“CFAA”), 18 U.S.C. § 1030 et seq.)

The district court properly dismissed the thirteenth claim under the CFAA.
The CFAA requires that a defendant “access[]” a protected computer without
authorization or “exceed[] authorized access.” See 18 U.S.C. § 1030(a)(4). As
lower courts have reasoned, users who had “voluntarily installed” software that
allegedly caused harm cannot plead unauthorized “access” under the CFAA. See,
e.g., In re iPhone Application Litig., 844 F. Supp. 2d 1040, 1066 (N.D. Cal. 2012)

(citing cases). Because Plaintiffs voluntarily installed the relevant software update,

11
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Plaintiffs cannot allege actionable “access” under the CFAA. Accordingly, we
affirm the dismissal of this claim.’
Fifteenth Claim (Unjust Enrichment)

The district court properly dismissed the fifteenth claim for unjust
enrichment. “The phrase ‘Unjust Enrichment” does not describe a theory of
recovery, but an effect: the result of a failure to make restitution under
circumstances where it is equitable to do so.” Melchior v. New Line Prods., Inc.,
131 Cal. Rptr. 2d 347, 357 (Ct. App. 2003) (citation and internal quotation marks
omitted). “It is synonymous with restitution.” Id. (citations and internal quotation
marks omitted). Restitution “will not be given when the plaintiff’s remedies at law
are adequate.” Collins v. eMachs., Inc., 134 Cal. Rptr. 3d 588, 596-97 (Ct. App.
2011) (citations omitted).

In light of the adequate legal remedies available, Plaintiffs cannot state a
claim for unjust enrichment. To the extent Plaintiffs seek to recover money that
they may have prepaid to Sony for use in connection with the PSN, and which they

“lost” when they could no longer access the PSN, we agree with the district court

*We “will not ordinarily consider matters on appeal that are not specifically
and distinctly argued in appellant’s opening brief.” Clark v. Time Warner Cable,
523 F.3d 1110, 1116 (9th Cir. 2008) (citation and internal quotation marks
omitted). We affirm the dismissal of the fourteenth claim for conversion because
Plaintiffs’ opening brief does not discuss the dismissal of this claim.

12



Case: 11-18066 01/06/2014 ID: 8925568 DktEntry: 40-1 Page: 13 of 13

that “Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim for restitution or damages because,
among other things, they have not alleged sufficient facts as to the terms and
conditions on which they paid monies to Sony.” Accordingly, we affirm the
dismissal of this claim.

The parties shall bear their own costs on appeal.

AFFIRMED in part, REVERSED in part, and REMANDED.

13
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United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit

Office of the Clerk
95 Seventh Street
San Francisco, CA 94103

Information Regarding Judgment and Post-Judgment Proceedings

Judgment
. This Court has filed and entered the attached judgment in your case.
Fed. R. App. P. 36. Please note the filed date on the attached
decision because all of the dates described below run from that date,
not from the date you receive this notice.

Mandate (Fed. R. App. P. 41; 9th Cir. R. 41-1 & -2)

. The mandate will issue 7 days after the expiration of the time for
filing a petition for rehearing or 7 days from the denial of a petition
for rehearing, unless the Court directs otherwise. To file a motion to
stay the mandate, file it electronically via the appellate ECF system
or, if you are a pro se litigant or an attorney with an exemption from
using appellate ECF, file one original motion on paper.

Petition for Panel Rehearing (Fed. R. App. P. 40; 9th Cir. R. 40-1)
Petition for Rehearing En Banc (Fed. R. App. P. 35; 9th Cir. R. 35-1 to -3)

(1) A. Purpose (Panel Rehearing):
. A party should seek panel rehearing only if one or more of the following
grounds exist:
> A material point of fact or law was overlooked in the decision;
> A change in the law occurred after the case was submitted which
appears to have been overlooked by the panel; or

> An apparent conflict with another decision of the Court was not
addressed in the opinion.
. Do not file a petition for panel rehearing merely to reargue the case.

B. Purpose (Rehearing En Banc)
A party should seek en banc rehearing only if one or more of the following
grounds exist:

Post Judgment Form - Rev. 08/2013 1
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> Consideration by the full Court is necessary to secure or maintain

uniformity of the Court’s decisions; or

The proceeding involves a question of exceptional importance; or

> The opinion directly conflicts with an existing opinion by another
court of appeals or the Supreme Court and substantially affects a
rule of national application in which there is an overriding need for
national uniformity.

v

(2) Deadlines for Filing:

. A petition for rehearing may be filed within 14 days after entry of
judgment. Fed. R. App. P. 40(a)(1).

. If the United States or an agency or officer thereof is a party in a civil case,
the time for filing a petition for rehearing is 45 days after entry of
judgment. Fed. R. App. P. 40(a)(1).

. If the mandate has issued, the petition for rehearing should be
accompanied by a motion to recall the mandate.

. See Advisory Note to 9th Cir. R. 40-1 (petitions must be received on the
due date).

. An order to publish a previously unpublished memorandum disposition
extends the time to file a petition for rehearing to 14 days after the date of
the order of publication or, in all civil cases in which the United States or
an agency or officer thereof is a party, 45 days after the date of the order of
publication. 9th Cir. R. 40-2.

(3) Statement of Counsel
. A petition should contain an introduction stating that, in counsel’s
judgment, one or more of the situations described in the “purpose” section
above exist. The points to be raised must be stated clearly.

(4) Form & Number of Copies (9th Cir. R. 40-1; Fed. R. App. P. 32(¢)(2))

. The petition shall not exceed 15 pages unless it complies with the
alternative length limitations of 4,200 words or 390 lines of text.

. The petition must be accompanied by a copy of the panel’s decision being
challenged.

. An answer, when ordered by the Court, shall comply with the same length
limitations as the petition.

. If a pro se litigant elects to file a form brief pursuant to Circuit Rule 28-1, a
petition for panel rehearing or for rehearing en banc need not comply with
Fed. R. App. P. 32.

Post Judgment Form - Rev. 08/2013 2
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. The petition or answer must be accompanied by a Certificate of
Compliance found at Form 11, available on our website at
www.ca9.uscourts.gov under Forms.

. You may file a petition electronically via the appellate ECF system. No
paper copies are required unless the Court orders otherwise. If you are a
pro se litigant or an attorney exempted from using the appellate ECF
system, file one original petition on paper. No additional paper copies are
required unless the Court orders otherwise.

Bill of Costs (Fed. R. App. P. 39, 9th Cir. R. 39-1)
. The Bill of Costs must be filed within 14 days after entry of judgment.
. See Form 10 for additional information, available on our website at
www.ca9.uscourts.gov under Forms.

Attorneys Fees
. Ninth Circuit Rule 39-1 describes the content and due dates for attorneys
fees applications.
. All relevant forms are available on our website at www.ca9.uscourts.gov

under Forms or by telephoning (415) 355-7806.

Petition for a Writ of Certiorari
. Please refer to the Rules of the United States Supreme Court at
WWwWWw.supremecourt.gov

Counsel Listing in Published Opinions
. Please check counsel listing on the attached decision.
. If there are any errors in a published opinion, please send a letter in
writing within 10 days to:

> Thomson Reuters; 610 Opperman Drive; PO Box 64526; St. Paul,
MN 55164-0526 (Attn: Jean Green, Senior Publications
Coordinator);

» and electronically file a copy of the letter via the appellate ECF
system by using "File Correspondence to Court," or if you are an
attorney exempted from using the appellate ECF system, mail the
Court one copy of the letter.
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United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit

BILL OF COSTS

Note: If you wish to file a bill of costs, it MUST be submitted on this form and filed, with the clerk, with proof of
service, within 14 days of the date of entry of judgment, and in accordance with 9th Circuit Rule 39-1. A
late bill of costs must be accompanied by a motion showing good cause. Please refer to FRAP 39, 28
U.S.C. § 1920, and 9th Circuit Rule 39-1 when preparing your bill of costs.

V. ’ 9th Cir. No.

The Clerk is requested to tax the following costs against: ’

nggf;l’;ﬂf” REQUESTED ALLOWED
28 U.S.C. § 1920, Each Column Must Be Completed To Be Completed by the Clerk
9th Cir. R. 39-1
No. of | Pages per | Cost per TOTAL No. of | Pages per | Cost per TOTAL
Docs. Doc. Page* COST Docs. Doc. Page* COST
Excerpt of Record $ $ $ $
Opening Brief $ $ $ $
Answering Brief $ $ $ $
Reply Brief $ $ $ $
Other** H $ $ $ $
TOTAL: |$ TOTAL: |$

* Costs per page may not exceed .10 or actual cost, whichever is less. 9th Circuit Rule 39-1.

** Other: Any other requests must be accompanied by a statement explaining why the item(s) should be taxed
pursuant to 9th Circuit Rule 39-1. Additional items without such supporting statements will not be
considered.

Attorneys' fees cannot be requested on this form.

Continue to next page.
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Form 10. Bill of Costs - Continued

I, | , swear under penalty of perjury that the services for which costs are taxed

were actually and necessarily performed, and that the requested costs were actually expended as listed.

Signature ’

"s/" plus attorney's name if submitted electronically)

Date ’

Name of Counsel: ’

Attorney for:

(To Be Completed by the Clerk)

Date Costs are taxed in the amount of $

Clerk of Court

By: “ , Deputy Clerk
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